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For Annabelle, Bethany, Baxter, and Wes.

May they soar over new frontiers.






AUTHOR’S NOTE


By the end of World War I, about five percent of the Antarctic landmass had been explored. A small wedge from the Ross Ice Shelf to the South Pole was the only area of the vast interior impressed by a human footprint, and less than one third of the coastline had been sighted. During the 1920s and 1930s, as new areas were added to maps, inaccurate names were sometimes assigned to them. For example, in 1928, when Sir Hubert Wilkins flew along what we now call the Antarctic Peninsula, he incorrectly reported it to be a series of islands. As a result, maps of the period showed it as the “Antarctic Archipelago.” (The northern section was known as Graham Land and the southern section as Palmer Land.) In other cases, names were assigned, then altered as areas underwent more definitive mapping, or mapmakers chose to be more concise. Hearst Land moved and became Hearst Island. James W. Ellsworth Land was, for a period, Ellsworth Highland and is now simply Ellsworth Land. For consistency with quoted passages and maps, I generally adopt the names the explorers used, only offering an explanation when necessary to avoid confusion. I have also included maps, showing the known areas of Antarctica at the commencement of the Ellsworth expeditions, along with Wilkins’s map of the Antarctic Archipelago drawn in 1930.

Navigation held special difficulties for polar aviators during the 1930s. Their instruments and methods were evolving from those used by mariners, who took sextant readings at sea level. So in addition to the difficulties associated with traveling at a much higher speed, navigators cramped in a cockpit also had to estimate their altitude, which was problematic over unexplored land, where the heights of mountains were unknown. Also, mariners sailed in lower latitudes, where meridians of longitude are farther apart and magnetic compass variation is less acute. Because I didn’t want to slow the narrative with lengthy explanations, an overview of the methods employed by Lincoln Ellsworth to cross Antarctica is included as an appendix, along with the instructions, estimated positions, and compass variations for the flight, as compiled by Sir Hubert Wilkins.

For period authenticity, I have usually retained the terms and expressions that were used by the explorers. Hence, distances are in miles, length in feet and inches, and weights are generally quoted using imperial measures. The only exception to the use of imperial measures are gallons, which are U.S. I include the metric equivalent to weights, capacity, and distance where I feel it may assist understanding. Unless otherwise stated, miles are statute rather than nautical.






PROLOGUE


The surviving black-and-white film shows two men preparing for a flight beside a sleek metal airplane. Behind the plane, flat compacted snow stretches, like a theater backdrop, to a distant horizon of gently sloping hills. Scattered about the snow in front of the plane are drums of fuel, bags of supplies, and a lightweight wooden sled.

Both actors in the unfolding drama are tall men. Lincoln Ellsworth is the slimmer of the two. His youthful face and thick head of hair make him appear younger than his fifty-five years. Ellsworth is pulling a thick fur parka over his upper body and adjusting the hood. He smiles and briefly spreads his arms wide to present the accomplishment to the camera, then looks around the snow for something to load aboard the plane.

The other man is Herbert Hollick-Kenyon. He is wearing trousers, boots, a check woollen shirt, and aviator sunglasses, which hide his eyes. His solid build and receding hairline make him look older than his thirty-eight years. He ignores the camera as he suits up, deftly clamping the stem of a lighted pipe in his teeth, then transferring it to his hand. The dexterity is impressive and performed without a hint of self-consciousness.

Near the plane, the flags of the institutions with which Ellsworth has an association are held on bamboo poles, a horizontal strut ensuring each is clearly visible in the still air. The camera pans across the flags of the National Geographic Society, Yale University, the New York Athletic Club, the Hill School, Pottstown, Pennsylvania, and, towering over them all, the flag of the United States of America with forty-eight stars. (In 1935, Alaska and Hawaii are not yet states.) Ellsworth smiles proudly at the camera again and, on the soundless film, goes through the carefully choreographed motion of pointing to each flag in turn.

The film jumps to the same scene a few minutes later. The flags have been packed away. Hollick-Kenyon is sitting casually on the snow, his pipe still in his mouth, strapping gaiters over his boots. He too is now wearing a fur parka.

Ellsworth is pacing anxiously in front of the plane. In his right hand he carries a leather cartridge belt, devoid of bullets. The wealthy Ellsworth who owns, among other things, mansions in New York and Chicago, a villa in Italy, a castle in Switzerland, and great works of art, considers this old cartridge belt his most precious possession. It is the good luck charm he will carry on the flight he hopes will write his name in the history books. The belt would have no value and no meaning were it not for the fact it was once owned by Ellsworth’s hero, the western lawman Wyatt Earp. The belt has made a long journey from one frontier to another.

The film jumps again and bit players have walk-on roles in the performance. A mechanic checks the engine, more for the camera than mechanical necessity. Everything has already been checked and rechecked. Another man steps on the low wing and wipes the cockpit windscreen with a cloth. And it goes on until Hollick-Kenyon and Ellsworth are ready to climb aboard.

Hollick-Kenyon climbs in first, sliding the canopy to the rear and maneuvering his bulky frame into the narrow cockpit. He reaches up and pulls the canopy forward, over his head, so Ellsworth can climb into the seat behind him. Settled, Ellsworth grins at the camera and, reacting to some unheard direction, leans awkwardly forward, thrusting his head partway out of the cockpit, so his face is not in shadow.

A man closes the side hatches on the fuselage before walking out of frame. The streamlined silver metal plane is beautiful, even by modern standards. The large block letters along the side are clearly visible: ELLSWORTH TRANS-ANTARCTIC FLIGHT.

Next, the shot is wider and the single propeller spins invisibly while snow is blasted rearward. The plane moves forward on wide flat wooden skis, gathering speed. It passes the camera, which is not panning, and the port wing appears to come dangerously close to the lens. The plane moves away as it taxis and gathers speed.

Finally, the plane accelerates across the snowfield, lifts off, circles once over the cheering men still on the ground, and flies out of the picture. The local time is 0800 Greenwich Mean Time (GMT). The date is November 23, 1935. The location is Dundee Island, near the tip of the Antarctic Peninsula. The wealthy and eccentric American explorer, Lincoln Ellsworth, after years of setbacks, misfortunes, and ridicule, is finally on his way to attempt the first crossing of the last unexplored continent on Earth.

The camera stops filming, but the activity continues. The man who has been operating the camera, the Australian explorer Sir Hubert Wilkins, organizes the crew to return equipment to the expedition ship, moored at the edge of the ice a few miles away. Men haul crates, tools, and empty fuel drums down the slope from the makeshift runway to the ship, which Ellsworth has named Wyatt Earp.

Already aboard the Wyatt Earp, the radio operator, Walter Lanz, is listening intently for messages from Ellsworth and Hollick-Kenyon. Lanz writes each message on his pad with a pencil and crew members relay the information to others working around the ship. At first the messages from the fliers are received clearly. They report the plane is flying slower than expected, but everything else is going according to plan.

At 1046 GMT, Hollick-Kenyon radios the right rear fuel tank is empty and he has switched to the front left wing tank. Aboard the Wyatt Earp, Sir Hubert Wilkins quickly makes his calculations. In two hours and forty-six minutes the fliers have consumed sixty-seven gallons of fuel at twenty-four and a half gallons an hour. At that rate, because the total fuel capacity of the plane is 466 gallons, they can fly for nineteen hours.

At 1115 GMT, three hours and fifteen minutes into the 2,200-mile flight, Lanz receives the message: “We too far east. Going to make compass course 190.”1

A few minutes later he records: “IAS 110. Very slow.”2 The Indicated Air Speed (IAS) is only 110 miles per hour. The plane is capable of flying at 200 miles per hour and should be cruising at 150 miles per hour. There are mutterings aboard the Wyatt Earp. Why are they flying so slowly? Is there a headwind? Is something wrong with the engine? Wilkins makes more calculations. If they are only flying at 110 miles per hour the 2,200 miles flight will take twenty hours. They will not have enough fuel. The fliers should turn around and return to the ship.

Minutes later, Hollick-Kenyon radios that he and Ellsworth are still flying. The headwinds are increasing. Mountain ranges are in front of them. They will need to gain elevation, burning even more fuel. They have traveled 400 miles—too far to walk back to the Wyatt Earp if they are forced to land.

At 1241 GMT, Hollick-Kenyon radios they are flying at 13,000 feet and still climbing and still flying into a head wind. They have no intention of turning back to the safety of the ship. After eight hours, the radio messages are crackling and breaking up. Lanz writes on his pad:

I estimate that we are at sevent . . . one . . . erabouts . . . my guess is . . . at . . . pect still clear . . . to s . . . ight dull . . . little no wind.3

Lanz waits for the next message, but nothing is heard. Hours pass and there is still nothing to record on the pad. The ice pack surrounding Dundee Island presses at the side of the Wyatt Earp. If the ship is not moved to open sea soon it will be trapped, perhaps for the winter.

Wilkins waits twenty-four hours for a radio message from Ellsworth and Hollick-Kenyon, but nothing disturbs the airwaves. By now the plane’s fuel must be exhausted. But have the fliers landed safely? If they have, why have they not transmitted their position? Wilkins reluctantly radios a message to Buenos Aires, from where it is relayed to New York. The message explains that the American explorer, Lincoln Ellsworth, has disappeared. He departed, with pilot Herbert Hollick-Kenyon, on a trans-Antarctic flight expected to take fourteen hours. After eight hours radio contact was lost.

In New York, Ellsworth’s lawyers and business managers fear the worst. Ellsworth has previously hinted at suicide. Could he have possibly done it? Could their client, who has battled depression for much of his life, who has endured taunts and snickers at rumors that he is gay, and who has repeatedly failed to demonstrate competence in navigation, finally realized his secret ambition to reach a remote frontier—the last frontier on the planet—and remain there permanently?

Aboard the Wyatt Earp, Wilkins receives frantic messages from New York asking what can be done. The experienced Antarctic explorer understands the answer is virtually nothing. Except for the fliers, and the small crew aboard the Wyatt Earp, which is now trapped by the ice, there is no one else on the continent and no other ship in Antarctic waters. The crew of the Wyatt Earp can only wait and hope. Lanz, often relieved by other crew members, strains his hearing to listen for the faintest signal from the radio. The waiting and listening continues for days, and then weeks.

Antarctica offers only silence.

Eighty years after Lincoln Ellsworth and Herbert Hollick-Kenyon took off to attempt their trans-Antarctic flight, I landed at the Gerald R. Ford International Airport, Grand Rapids, Michigan, searching for information about the man who had sent them on their way, Sir Hubert Wilkins. I was greeted at the airport by Mike Ross, a giant bear of a man in his seventies, who led me across the parking lot to his pickup truck, then drove me an hour north to the small town of Fremont. Mike was the son of the late Winston Ross, who had been Wilkins’s personal secretary and, after the deaths of Sir Hubert and Lady Wilkins, had inherited their lifetime collection of correspondence, records, and artifacts. Initially, Winston Ross had been at a loss as to what to do with the enormous amount of material. Hoping to raise money to preserve it, he had sold certain correspondence to collectors of polar memorabilia. Then, in 1985, he had transferred much of the remainder to the Ohio State University’s polar archival program. But after Winston Ross’s death in 1998, his son Mike discovered still more boxes of material and, not knowing to whom he should give them, had stored them at his home in Michigan. I’d come to see what they contained.

When we arrived at Mike’s rural property on the outskirts of Fremont, he led me into the workshop behind his home and showed me the stack of boxes. For the next week, either in my motel room, or amid the tools in Mike’s workshop, I sifted through thousands of photographs, artifacts, letters, and documents, carefully copying them and taking notes. I found remarkable items, such as Wilkins’s mention in dispatches from the Western Front in World War I, specially marked bars of soap from the airship Hindenburg, a proclamation from George V of England authorizing Wilkins to claim land in Antarctica, and autographed pictures from people such as Walt Disney, Amelia Earhart, Roald Amundsen, and Joseph Stalin.

I also found the records of the Ellsworth Trans-Antarctic Expeditions.

In the years I had spent researching Sir Hubert Wilkins I had read everything available about his time, during the 1930s, helping Ellsworth realize his dream of being the first person to cross Antarctica. But a lot of research had previously revealed very little, except that Ellsworth appeared to be apathetic, incompetent, and, for the most part, uninterested in his ambition. What motivated him to cross Antarctica was a mystery. Nor could I understand why Wilkins had spent so much time helping someone else achieve what he wanted desperately to do himself.

The Michigan boxes held the answers. They contained intimate letters between Wilkins and his wife, explaining the happenings aboard the Wyatt Earp. They revealed radiograms and telegrams, the crew’s contracts, erratic instructions written by Ellsworth, receipts for purchases, press releases, the ship’s papers, and more. In short, they revealed the story. Combined with the records I had already studied, the Michigan boxes opened an intimate window into one of the strangest episodes in polar history. It is this untold story I now present to the reader.

It is a story of men who came after the Heroic Age and how they competed for the last great prize in polar exploration—the first crossing of Antarctica. And it is the story of how the ammunition belt of a western frontier lawman came to be carried across the frozen continent, and how a lonely, insecure, fifty-five-year-old gay man triumphed where so many others had failed.
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PART I


ALMOST HEROIC

So Skoal! Roald Amundsen:

The winter’s cold, that lately froze our blood,

Now were it so extreme might do this good,

As make these tears bright pearls, which I would lay

Tombed safely with you till doom’s fatal day;

That in thy solitary place, where none

May ever come to breathe a sigh or groan,

Some remnant might be extant of the time

And faithful love I shall ever bear for you.

—Poem written by Lincoln Ellsworth
on the death of Roald Amundsen
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THE ELF CHILD

MAY 1880–OCTOBER 1924

Before 1924, Lincoln Ellsworth gave no indication he intended to be a polar explorer. To the contrary, he didn’t like the cold and was susceptible to pneumonia. He detested discomfort and deprivation and, whenever possible, he avoided physical work. He had difficulty focusing on any subject for even a brief period and, when confronted with a challenge, he usually surrendered to apathy and sought an easier path. In short, if one were to list the personal attributes necessary for polar exploration in the first half of the 20th century, it would be difficult to recognize even a few of them in Lincoln Ellsworth. But at the age of forty-four, Ellsworth stumbled upon an opportunity to become an explorer and seized it, hoping the overt display of manliness might finally gain the respect of his domineering, emotionally cold father.

Lincoln Ellsworth was born on May 10, 1880, in a stately mansion on Ellis Avenue on the South Side of Chicago, Illinois. His only sibling was a sister, Clare, born five years later. Ellsworth was a sickly child, and a family friend later told him he was “too fragile to support the hard studies and hard games of other boys.” The friend, writing a decade before J.R.R. Tolkien published The Hobbit explained to Ellsworth, “one feared you were an Elf Child,”1 and observed the condition was a great concern to Ellsworth’s father.1

Ellsworth’s mother, Eva, doted on her frail son until he was eight, when she died of pneumonia. The upbringing of Lincoln and Clare became the responsibility of their father, James W. Ellsworth, a powerful, overbearing businessman who had amassed a fortune mining coal to supply the insatiable needs of America’s growing railway network. James W. Ellsworth was a God-fearing man who believed in hard work, discipline, and thrift. He once wrote that nothing is, “accomplished in our country but has begun with a puritanical spirit.”2 Ellsworth Senior sought to indoctrinate young men with his values by funding the Western Reserve Academy in Hudson, Ohio, and a former master at the academy said of him:

There was no middle relationship possible. Either one fought him or served him; hated him or loved him. But even if one loved him, there was no intimacy. The unsmiling, forceful presence, tall, ramrod straight, impeccably groomed, held people at a distance.3

At the time Eva Ellsworth died, American railroads were rapidly expanding and coal production was trying to keep pace. The newly widowed James W. Ellsworth did not want to be distracted from his financial empire. He sent eight-year-old Lincoln and three-year-old Clare to be raised by nannies on the family farm in Hudson. What might have been, for many children, an idyllic upbringing of privilege and playful adventures, was hell for young Lincoln. He failed miserably at the local elementary school and recalled only ridicule. He readily admitted, “School was a horror. I couldn’t do anything with school—always the dunce of my classes, always falling behind. It was to be this way throughout my school and college days.”4 Years later Ellsworth would realize he was not intellectually dull, but that he needed something to interest him before he could absorb information. School never interested him, and he developed what he described as “the trait of indifference.”5 Ellsworth was shy, sensitive, and artistic. He read, wrote poetry, and tried to comprehend why he could never gain his father’s approval. His one playmate was his younger sister, and he remembered scampering to hide under her bed whenever he felt frightened.

Ellsworth had barely reached his teens when he was dragged from the security of the farm at Hudson and packed off to boarding school. Lincoln’s father selected the Hill School in Pottstown, Pennsylvania, as the appropriate institution through which Lincoln would continue his journey to manhood. The school’s headmaster, John Meigs, believed the love, charity, and forgiveness of the Christian God was best instilled in young men using rigid discipline and physical punishment. Meigs, who a student once described as, “terrible as an avenging angel,” wrote, “the religion of a boy means learning what duty is and caring much and always for it. All else is accessory; this is essence.”6

For Ellsworth, the hell of his formal education continued. “At the time it seemed a sort of nightmare,”7 he recalled. At the Hill School, his nickname was “Nelly,”2 and Ellsworth’s pale skin and soft features had him dress for the female roles in the glee club dramas. He spent his early teen years escaping to the world of books. In his loneliness, he constantly wrote to his father, pleading with him to visit the boarding school, or asking to be understood.3

Ellsworth finally graduated from the Hill School, two years later than most other young men his age. In 1900, his father’s influence gained him entry into Yale University, where his continued inability to apply himself to academic study meant he survived less than a year before being asked to leave.

Ellsworth was twenty-one and, having struggled through a confused puberty, wanted little more from the world than to be left alone. In recalling his early life, he often described it as “horrific” and “hell,” and explained it was so traumatic he could remember little of what happened before the age of thirteen. He never publicly admitted his depressive nature. That he suffered from depression can be ascertained by his actions and the writings of others who, in their correspondence, feared for Ellsworth’s mental state and sometimes suggested he was suicidal. Neither did Ellsworth ever write about his sexuality. That he was gay or bisexual can, again, only be determined by his actions or what others wrote about him.

Shortly after being asked to leave Yale, sympathetic former classmates invited Ellsworth on a camping trip in Yellowstone National Park. “That brief trip did more for me than all the schools and teachers I had known, for on it I found myself at last,” Ellsworth remembered and he, “brought back from Yellowstone Park a head full of daydreams of adventure in the wild and untrodden parts of the continent.”8

After the trauma of his youth and formal education, the highly sensitive Ellsworth discovered refuge in the American outdoors. In particular, he came to love the silence and beauty of the North American deserts, writing:

The grandeur of desert mountains and the glory of color that wraps the burning sands at their feet are beyond words to describe. To the seeing eye the desert is always revealing new beauties and wonders. To its lover it becomes an eternal fascination.9

As automobiles, airplanes, telephones, radios, and other inventions civilized America at the beginning of the 20th century, Ellsworth longed for the frontier way of life that was disappearing. He wanted to live in a world before his father—and men like his father—built roads, railways, and skyscrapers, or rounded up cowboys to herd them into factories. His favorite book was Theodore Roosevelt’s Ranch Life and the Hunting-Trail:

The whole book filled me with a passion for the West. I devoured that book like a man starved for reading, sitting until the small hours, night after night with it, rereading favorite chapters again and again . . . [such as] the one in which Theodore Roosevelt tells how, as a frontier sheriff, he walked into a saloon filled with desperadoes, held them up, and cowed them with his gun, and herded them all into jail.10

As the world became increasingly crowded and noisy, Ellsworth dreamt of escaping to some untamed frontier where he could be a rough rider of the plains, whom Roosevelt described as, “brave, hospitable, hardy, and adventurous . . . he prepares the way for the civilization, from before whose face he must himself disappear.”11

During his twenties, Ellsworth would interrupt his wanderings to make brief attempts to work for his father. He chose outdoor work, learning surveying and engineering, but never stayed at anything long enough to secure formal qualifications. Each enforced stay in one of Ellsworth Sr.’s businesses lasted, at most, six months, and Lincoln would find an excuse to go hiking and camping again, traveling as far as Canada or South America.

Much of the tension between father and son, created by each man having different ambitions, was relieved in 1907, when Lincoln was twenty-seven. Realizing his only son would never follow in his footsteps, or take the helm of the empire he had built, James Ellsworth sold his businesses and, at age fifty-eight, devoted his energy and wealth to acquiring art. He remarried, bought a castle in Switzerland and a villa in Italy, and traveled around Europe with his second wife, purchasing whatever caught his fancy.4

Lincoln was finally free of his father’s expectations. He could daydream and wander the world. During his twenties and thirties Ellsworth legitimized his love for the outdoors by collecting fossils or relics from the Grand Canyon or the deserts, which he would donate to the American Museum of Natural History. The museum had little use for the repetitious trinkets, but as they were often accompanied by a generous check signed by Ellsworth Sr., the trustees had the good sense to accept them. Ellsworth also fancied himself a scientist, but never committed to any field long enough to do more than read a few books on the subject.

When, in 1917, the United States entered World War I, Ellsworth enlisted in the U.S. Army as a private second class and traveled to France hoping to be trained as a pilot. In Paris, he was informed he was too old to be a pilot and, instead, was assigned to clerical work before a bout of influenza caused him to be sent home. He resumed his wanderings in America while the war ground to a conclusion.

Thus life meandered on for Lincoln Ellsworth until October 1924, when he was in New York, having just returned from a camping trip, and an item in the newspaper caught his attention. The famous Norwegian explorer Roald Amundsen was in town, trying to raise funds for a flight to the North Pole.

Roald Amundsen had devoted his life to polar exploration, and by 1924 it had left him bankrupt and bitter. Born in Norway in 1872, Amundsen had, during his teen years, resolved to unlock the secrets of the Arctic. In his youth he designed polar clothing, made his own equipment, and trained himself for his calling by regularly skiing cross-country in the depths of winter. After a trip to Antarctica on a Belgian research ship, then successfully negotiating the Northwest Passage in a small boat, Amundsen set his sights on the biggest prize in polar exploration—the North Pole. He borrowed a ship, the Fram, recruited a crew, purchased plenty of sled dogs, and was preparing to depart when, in September 1909, two men, Frederick A. Cook and Robert E. Peary, emerged from the Arctic claiming they had each reached the Pole.

Knowing he could not be first to the North Pole, Amundsen decided to make use of his fully provisioned ship and become the first person to reach the South Pole. That entered him in a race against Robert Falcon Scott, who was leading a British expedition to Antarctica with the express purpose of reaching the South Pole. At the end of 1910, Amundsen set up a base at what he called Framheim (home of the Fram) at the eastern end of the Ross Ice Shelf, Antarctica, where he waited out the winter. Scott set up his base at the western end of the shelf and did the same.

After the sun reappeared to light the high southern latitudes, Amundsen left Framheim with four companions and forty-eight dogs, and sledded across the shelf, up the Axel Heiberg Glacier to the Antarctic Plateau, and then to the Pole, which he reached on December 14. Scott and four companions reached the Pole on January 17, 1912, where they found a tent and letter left by Amundsen. Having been beaten to the Pole, Scott’s party turned for home and the five men died on the return journey because of (depending on one’s opinion of Scott) mismanagement, bad luck, unseasonably bad weather, or some combination of those factors.

Meanwhile, the Fram, with Amundsen on board, reached Hobart, Tasmania, on March 7. The world soon learned that he had reached the South Pole, but people had to wait almost a year for a relief ship to bring news of Scott. When it was revealed that Scott had perished, British people were particularly bitter toward Amundsen and his victory. His critics said he was a “professional explorer” and therefore not a “gentleman”; he had been underhanded in stating publicly that he was going to the North Pole, and then sneaking down to the South; he had not collected scientific data; and he had survived by eating his dogs. In truth, Amundsen’s biggest mistake was that he had won. A small team of hardy and hardened men from Norway, with experience and careful planning, had upstaged the ambitions of the proud and mighty British Empire and the Empire did not like it.

Burdened by debt, made weightier by accusations of cheating, Amundsen again sought refuge on the ice, but his plans were interrupted by World War I. After the war, he made an attempt to sail the Northeast Passage, before deciding his future was in the sky. He gained a pilot’s license and resolved to fly to the North Pole and across the Arctic Ocean. He took an obsolete plane to Wainwright, Canada, but crashed it landing on rough ground. Amundsen reasoned that what he really needed was a plane that could take off and land on water or ice: a flying boat. The best available at the time were the Italian-built Dornier Wal flying boats. But how to pay for them? Amundsen was forced to turn to the only way he knew to raise money: touring and lecturing. The money was in America, so that’s where he went.

Thus, in October 1924, Roald Amundsen was holed up in New York’s Waldorf Astoria Hotel, refusing to accept visitors lest they be creditors and “nearer to black despair than ever before,” on a tour that, “was practically a financial failure”:

My newspaper articles had produced but little revenue. As I sat in my room in the Waldorf Astoria, it seemed to me as if the future had closed solidly against me, and that my career as an explorer had come to an inglorious end. Courage, will power, indomitable faith—these qualities had carried me through many dangers and to many achievements. Now even their merits seemed of no avail.12

Then Lincoln Ellsworth returned to New York to read that the “Conqueror of the South Pole” was in town trying to raise money for a flight to the North Pole. Ellsworth saw an opportunity for adventure and telephoned the famous explorer, saying, “I am an amateur interested in polar exploration, and I might be able to supply some money for another expedition.”13


1 Elves originated in Germanic folklore. They were small, took human form, and were mischievous. A common trick of elves was to sneak into a home and replace a human baby with one of their own, thus creating an Elf Child.




2 The word Nelly does not appear in Webster’s dictionary of the era. In English dictionaries its meaning is given as (i) silly or (ii) an effeminate, presumably gay, man.




3 Lincoln Ellsworth often wrote letters and poems to his father from a young age, begging for understanding. Mary Louise Ellsworth (see Chapter 8) discovered the letters after Lincoln’s death and, finding herself unable to confront the depth of emotion expressed, burned them and never revealed the contents.




4 Notable pieces in James W. Ellsworth’s collection at the time of his death were Rembrandt’s Portrait of a Man and a Gutenberg Bible.
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THE KINGDOM OF DEATH

OCTOBER 1924–JUNE 1925

For Amundsen, the appearance of Ellsworth must have been a godsend. Here on his doorstep was an insecure middle-aged man, with a generous allowance from a wealthy father and a dream of performing a great feat of exploration. Amundsen flattered Ellsworth, who later recalled proudly “that first long talk I had with Amundsen in his room at the Waldorf developed many things, the most important being that henceforth we were to be partners in polar exploration.”1

Ellsworth immediately felt an affinity with Amundsen, writing he “was like a child whose confidence has been betrayed so often that he finally trusts nobody. So he encased himself in a shell of ice.”2

The wily Amundsen, the world’s greatest polar explorer, and the eager but inexperienced Ellsworth, who had never strapped on skis, conceived a plan. Or more correctly, Amundsen revealed his ambition to fly across the Arctic Ocean via the North Pole, and skillfully ensured Ellsworth felt part ownership of the idea. Ellsworth enthused, “Our first ambition must be to fly clear across the Arctic. It interested neither of us to merely attain the North Pole.”3

From the point of view of polar exploration, the idea had merit. The Atlantic side of the Arctic Ocean was reasonably well known, at least as far north as the Svalbard Archipelago, while Cook and Peary had both trekked north from Greenland. But the Arctic Ocean north of Alaska and Canada was still largely a mystery. Cook and Peary had each reported seeing land in the distance in that direction, and various scientists at the time were theorizing, based on the known drift patterns of the ice, that a continent, or at least large islands, existed in the Arctic. Amundsen wanted to fly from Spitsbergen, in the Svalbard Archipelago, to the Pole, and then over the top of the world into the large unknown area where he hoped he would discover “Amundsen Land.” It would be the crowning achievement of his lifetime and not tainted with the accusations of cheating and unsportsmanlike behavior that had dogged him since the South Pole.

Ellsworth’s role was to raise the funds. He asked his father for an advance on his income by “pleading for myself as I never had before.”4 Lincoln’s timing was fortunate. Ellsworth’s Sr.’s second wife, Julia, had died three years earlier and since then he had withdrawn from the world. He was also suffering from declining health. Lincoln recalled:

He was nervous and irritable, and the pressure I was putting upon him bothered him terribly. Wouldn’t he at least see Captain Amundsen, I begged? Was that asking too much—to give himself the opportunity of meeting familiarly one of the world’s historic men?

“Bring him, then,” my father finally cried. “Bring him.”

It was the first break in his defenses, the first time his iron opposition had even sagged.5

The meeting between James W. Ellsworth and Roald Amundsen took place on November 9, 1924, at the industrialist’s house on New York’s Park Avenue. Ellsworth Sr. was suitably impressed. In Amundsen he undoubtedly recognized the indomitable spirit and single-minded focus that had driven his own ambitions, and which were lacking in his son. When James Ellsworth agreed to back the venture, Amundsen reached into his bag, took out the binoculars he had carried to the South Pole, and presented them to the former businessman.1 Having been promised the money he needed, Amundsen canceled his lecture tour and hurried back to Europe to oversee the organization of the expedition.

Lincoln Ellsworth began the more complex task of getting his father’s permission to accompany Amundsen. It was a process that consumed three months as the two obstinate men tried to outmaneuver one another. Lincoln wrote, “[Father] paid over the money but began a desperate campaign, one that verged on the unprincipled, to keep me from accompanying the expedition.”6

At first Ellsworth Sr. said he would permit Ellsworth Jr. to participate in the risky flight if he stopped smoking. Lincoln agreed, but wrote in his autobiography that he never intended to honor the promise. Ellsworth Sr. would sign a bank draft, give it to his son, then a day later instruct the bank not to make the funds available. The two men would confront each other, and Ellsworth Sr. would contact the bank again and change the instruction. Family friends were dragged into the bickering and implored Lincoln to be considerate of his father’s age and failing health and not accompany the expedition, while other friends urged Ellsworth Sr. to let Lincoln have his way. Lincoln pleaded with his father to be allowed to go, writing in one letter, “I do not want worldly goods, castles or villas or money with which to purchase luxury. I do want the opportunity to make good and satisfy my inward self in the line of endeavor I have chosen.”7

Ellsworth Sr. thought his son foolish to make such a choice, and threatened to stop his allowance. And so it went on until eventually Lincoln’s sister, Clare, intervened:

Clare loved me, yet secretly she was one of those sceptics who thought I was going to my death. But she knew that I would rather die than not go. She knew that if I did not go I would be crushed in spirit for the rest of my days. So she interceded with Father on my behalf. Father was furious with her, threatening her with all sorts of dire things in the future because she had dared interfere. Yet she fought on for me, risking her own future as I was. In his frame of mind then, Father might well of cut off his children with a pittance and left all his money to the Western Reserve Academy. I think it was Clare’s influence that made him give up in the end.8

The tired old man relented and released the funds. Lincoln Ellsworth hightailed it to Norway to catch up with Amundsen and ship their two flying boats to Spitsbergen. He wrote that his last meeting with his father was “a most dismal experience.”9 Father and son had disappointed each other all Lincoln’s life. To his father, Lincoln was the sissy who never had the head or the heart to bludgeon some industrial empire into shape. To Lincoln, his father had neither the insight to understand his son, nor the compassion to see his desperate need for acceptance. “I could only express the nature God and circumstance had given me,”10 Ellsworth recalled, perhaps hinting at his sexuality.

When Lincoln sailed from New York, his sister came to wave him off. “I had hoped that [Father] might come to the boat, but he didn’t.” Lincoln wrote:

For a long time I stood at the rail with a heavy heart. The ship turned slowly in the stream, then moved toward the Battery, the procession of Manhattan skyscrapers marching majestically by. I watched until we were far down the bay and the New York spires had huddled together and shrunk.

Then my depression dropped from me like a cloak.11

Ellsworth described his first expedition more than a decade after the event, but one can still hear the enthusiasm in his words, mirroring those of an excited schoolboy on his first camping trip away from his home and parents.

Ellsworth also felt a new sense of importance. At Oslo, Amundsen had organized a dinner to bid the expedition farewell. Ellsworth, because of an oversight, had forgotten to bring a detachable collar, in fashion at the time, for his shirt. Amundsen borrowed one from a waiter at the hotel where Ellsworth was staying and, after the dinner, returned it. When Amundsen and the waiter spoke in Norwegian, Ellsworth was intrigued and asked Amundsen what the waiter had said. Amundsen explained that the waiter intended to keep the collar as a souvenir. Ellsworth was thrilled:

Can you imagine a New York bell-hop or hotel waiter preserving the collar worn by even a successful explorer, to say nothing of a prospective one? The Norsemen have been sea-rovers and discoverers for a thousand years. Exploration represents their national genius, as business organization does that of the United States or invention that of Italy. Venturers for discovery’s sake take the rank in Norway that other countries accord only to their idols in sport or entertainment.12

Mocked and ridiculed since childhood, Ellsworth was suddenly finding himself respected.

At Tromsø, the northern port from which the expedition would depart, Ellsworth met the pilots and crew, who had been hired by Amundsen, and watched, not speaking Norwegian, while they prepared for the five-hundred-mile voyage to Kings Bay, Spitsbergen.2 Two Dornier Wal flying boats were loaded, still unassembled in their crates, aboard the Hobby, a small steamer that plied the treacherous waters between Norway and Spitsbergen. A week later, at Kings Bay, Ellsworth again watched fascinated, as Amundsen oversaw the unloading and assembly of the flying boats. “It was all new to me,” Ellsworth wrote. “We had the feeling of being the cynosure of the world’s eyes, and it was to me, at least, tremendously exhilarating.”13

The Dornier Wal flying boats had been built in Pisa, Italy to a German design. The boat-shaped Duralumin hulls were wide enough to negate the need for wing floats. The Dornier Wals could, hopefully, land and take off in narrow leads (open areas in the ice) of water. Each flying boat had two powerful 350 hp Rolls-Royce engines and were capable, should one engine fail, of flying using only the other. Neither flying boat was named. They were referred to by the manufacturer’s designation: N 24 and N 25.

Amundsen, with pilot Hjalmar Riiser-Larsen and mechanic Karl Feucht, would fly in one Dornier Wal (N 25). Ellsworth, with pilot Leif Dietrichson and mechanic Oscar Omdal would be in the other. Riiser-Larsen and Dietrichson were aviation officers in the Royal Norwegian Navy. Omdal was a Norwegian pilot/mechanic, while Feucht was German, sent from the Dornier Wal factory to maintain the motors.

The six-man expedition planned to fly 750 miles from Kings Bay to the North Pole and, if the engines were running smoothly, continue over the Arctic to the north coast of Alaska. If the flying boats were not behaving, they would turn around at the Pole and return to Kings Bay. They might, if Amundsen thought it advisable, land somewhere near the Pole to discuss their options. It was a vague plan, not helped by the fact they had no radios, so once they were airborne the two crews could only communicate by means of semaphore or making gestures with their hands.

By May 21, everything was ready and the weather promised to remain clear. The Kings Bay coal mines were closed for the day and the Norwegian miners were allowed to witness a national hero, Roald Amundsen, again going where no man had gone before.

At 4:30 P.M. the massive engines were started, the Duralumin hulls inched forward, increasing speed as they slid over the smooth ice and, in a deafening roar, both Dornier Wals lifted into the air.

“It was unreal, mystic, fraught with prophecy,” Ellsworth wrote. “Something ahead was hidden, and we were going to find it.”14 Something hidden ahead there may have been, but for Ellsworth, equally, there was something he was leaving behind. As he sat in the nose cowling of the N 24, a new unknown world of ice and cold ahead of him, he was leaving behind a world of derision, exclusion, and shame. He later described the flight into the unknown north, saying, “I had accomplished the ambition of my life. I felt like a god.”15

The two flying boats remained within visual range of each other and flew steadily north for seven hours, crossing the edge of the Arctic ice pack. Believing they must be nearing the Pole, Ellsworth began looking for open leads of water in the jumbled pack ice below, where they could land the flying boats. “I have never looked down upon a more terrifying place in which to land an airplane,”16 he later wrote.

But then, surprisingly, Amundsen’s flying boat dipped and began to descend. Without radios, there was no opportunity to question the reason. Dietrichson had no choice but to follow in the N 24. Dietrichson skillfully dropped the flying boat into a narrow lead of water squeezed between jagged ice humps. Without room to taxi to a halt, the hull of the N 24 smashed into an ice cake and immediately began sinking. Ellsworth, Dietrichson, and Omdal scrambled out of the doomed flying boat onto the ice. Ellsworth stared at his surroundings. Moments earlier he had felt like a god. Now he confronted a new reality. “In the utter silence this seemed to me to be the kingdom of death.”17

On the ice, Ellsworth, whose job it was to navigate, handed his sextant to Dietrichson, who determined they were at latitude 87°44'N and longitude 10°20'W. They were 136 nautical miles (156 statute miles) from the Pole. Also, in navigating the expedition north, Ellsworth had not allowed for wind drift. They were twenty degrees off course. Commenting on Dietrichson’s reaction to his navigational error, Ellsworth noted, “Great was the pilot’s disgust.”18

But why had Amundsen brought his flying boat down early? He was an expert navigator and surely he had been taking his own sightings and not blindly following the inexperienced Ellsworth. And where were the others from the N 25? Ellsworth climbed to the top of an ice hummock and scanned the horizon with his field glasses. There was no sign of the others.

For the next few hours, Ellsworth, Dietrichson, and Omdal attempted to drag the N 24 onto solid ice, to no avail. After they had salvaged some supplies, Ellsworth climbed to the top of a taller ice hummock and spied the N 25 about three miles away. He could see the figures of Amundsen, Riiser-Larsen, and Feucht working near the plane. It took Ellsworth and his companions five days to transverse three miles of open leads and jagged ice. When they finally reached the other flying boat:

Five days had wrought a shocking change in Amundsen. Sleepless toil and anxiety had graven in his face lines that seemed to age him ten years. In all his many adventures in the polar regions, I doubt if he had ever been in such peril as this or under such a strain.19

Ellsworth learned that Amundsen had not landed by choice. The engine of the N 25 had cut out due to a leak in the air intake. Since landing, Feucht had repaired it, and the engine was functioning perfectly. Also, Riiser-Larsen had managed to land the N 25 without damage. It was ready to fly.

The experienced Amundsen knew a danger facing the small group was the lack of discipline and focus, which would lower morale. He ordered a strict schedule of work, rest, and meals. The first task was to haul the flying boat out of the water and onto the ice, to prevent it being crushed should the lead close. Using wooden snow shovels, sheath knives, and an ice axe, the men hacked out a ramp and taxied the N 25 onto a flat slab of ice. They had enough fuel to fly the N 25 back to Kings Bay, but their issue was finding a long flat area of ice from which to get airborne.

On May 31, ten days after their forced landings on the ice, Amundsen held a conference and everyone agreed if by June 15 they had not been able to get airborne, then they would abandon the N 25 and take their chances walking over the ice to Greenland. Although they did not voice their doubts, Ellsworth recalled that each man understood a journey on foot to Greenland gave them almost no chance of survival.

“But men fight for their lives to the last inch,” Ellsworth wrote. “And we had to begin at once to prepare either for that journey or for a much longer stay on the ice than any of us had contemplated.”20

With a renewed sense of urgency, the men fanned out from the N 25 to look for an open lead of water or a suitable flat ice runway. The search continued for a week. Ellsworth wrote:

We had been on the ice for fifteen days, and our position was as hopeless as ever. No lead had yet exposed water broad enough for a seaplane’s run. The ice of the frozen leads would not bear the weight of the ship. The plane could not reach flying speed on the snow.

Nine days to June 15, when we must make the supreme decision.21

On June 6, Riiser-Larsen and Dietrichson strapped their skis on and went searching for a runway again. They returned a few hours later and announced they had discovered a flat area of ice half a mile away. The daunting job now facing the exhausted men was to carve a road, sixty feet wide, through the ice hummocks, so they could haul the flying boat to the proposed runway. For the next nine days, with the strength of men whose only other option was death, they hacked their way through the hummocks, or filled crevices with blocks of ice and snow. Ellsworth worked as hard, or harder, than any of the others in that desperate effort, and Amundsen later credited him with saving the expedition.

Finally, on June 15, the six men climbed aboard the N 25 and, with Riiser-Larsen at the controls, got airborne. “I experienced no particular elation,” Ellsworth wrote. “But only a dull happiness when I felt the plane lift. We were all beyond sharp emotions.”22

Dietrichson sat forward of the pilot and steered the course to salvation. Six hours later they sighted a small island in the Svalbard Archipelago. Their incredible good luck continued when, shortly after landing, they were spotted by a fishing boat and taken back to Kings Bay, where they learned the world have given them up for dead.

Ellsworth also learned that on June 2, while they had struggled on the ice, his father had died. Ellsworth worried that his disappearance had broken his ailing father’s will to live, and he felt personally responsible for the old man’s death. For the first time in his life Ellsworth had taken a bold risk and survived, but his father had died thinking his son had perished in the Arctic. It affected Ellsworth deeply. He would write in his autobiography, “If I did not have for him the warm affection a son feels toward a less austere and preoccupied father, I at least had an immense respect for him, and a great admiration.”23

A week after they had reached Kings Bay, a larger ship was sent to fetch the N 25 before the expedition returned to Oslo for an official welcome. Ellsworth recalled, “I wish I could describe that welcome and what it meant to me. I was entirely unprepared for its fervor.” The six men taxied the N 25 up the fjord, past a row of warships from many nations:

The quays and wharves were black with humanity. Whistles of all sorts or river craft howled and shrieked; airplanes circled overhead. The guns of the fort began booming a salute, and a great throng was waiting at the landing.24

Ellsworth found it overwhelming, writing, “It was an intoxicating draught for one who has never known celebrity or the feeling of being treated as an important personage. It created an appetite that could never be once and for all appeased.”25

Ellsworth swore to himself that he would continue his exploration and accomplish something that would make his late father proud. He may not be able to build a great business empire, but he would somehow immortalize the Ellsworth name.


1 Amundsen had scratched the date when he reached the South Pole on the binoculars. Lincoln Ellsworth later inherited them from his father and donated them to the American Museum of Natural History, where they remain today.




2 Today Kings Bay is generally referred to as Kongsfjorden. It is located on the west side of Spitsbergen, the largest island in the Svalbard Archipelago.
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